LOCAL BILL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL



State Affairs Committee

Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee

209 House Office Building 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300

(850) 717-4890

LOCAL BILL POLICIES AND PROCEDURES MANUAL



State Affairs Committee

Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee

209 House Office Building 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300

(850) 717-4890

PREFACE

This manual outlines the policies and procedures of the Florida House of Representatives for drafting and filing local bills. Additionally, the manual provides constitutional and statutory requirements for local bills, discusses the creation of independent special districts, and details the codification of special district charters.

More information is available at the following Legislative offices:

Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee Florida House of Representatives 209 House Office Building 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300 (850) 717-4890

House Bill Drafting Service Florida House of Representatives 1501 The Capitol 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300 (850) 717-5300

Office of the Clerk 513 The Capitol 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300 (850) 717-5400

Table of Contents

| PREF | ACE | | I |
|------|--------|--|-------|
| CHA | PTER 1 | LOCAL BILL BASICS | 1 |
| I. | INTRO | DDUCTION TO LOCAL BILLS | 1 |
| | 1. | The Different Types of Laws in Florida | 1 |
| | 2. | Purpose of Local Bills | 3 |
| | 3. | Initiating a Local Bill | 3 |
| | 4. | Local Bill Filing Process in the House | 3 |
| | 5. | Local Delegation Meeting Guidelines | 5 |
| II. | NOTIC | E REQUIREMENTS FOR LOCAL BILLS | 6 |
| | 1. | Statutory Notice Requirements | 6 |
| | 2. | Format for Notice of Legislation | 7 |
| | 3. | Substance Included in the Notice | 8 |
| | 4. | Substantive Amendments Must Conform to Notice Requirem | ents8 |
| | 5. | Notice Arrangement and Payment | 9 |
| III. | REFE | RENDUM REQUIREMENTS FOR LOCAL BILLS | 9 |
| | 1. | Referendum In Lieu of Notice | 9 |
| | 2. | Model Referendum Provision | 10 |
| | 3. | Required Referenda | 10 |
| IV. | HOUS | E FORMS | 11 |
| | 1. | Local Bill Forms | 11 |
| | 2. | Local Bill Amendment Forms | 12 |
| ٧. | CONS | TITUTIONAL & STATUTORY PROVISIONS FOR LOCAL BI | LLS12 |
| | 1. | Constitutional and Statutory Notice Provisions | 12 |
| | 2. | Local Bill Structure | 13 |
| | 3. | Local Bill Effective Date | 13 |
| | 4. | Constitutional Provisions for Subject Matter | 14 |
| VI. | HOUS | E RULES PERTAINING TO LOCAL BILLS | 16 |
| | 1. | Rule 5.2—Member Bill Filing Deadline | 16 |

| | 2. | Rule 5.3—Limitation on Member Bills Filed | 16 |
|-------|--------|--|----|
| | 3. | Rule 5.5—Local Bills | 16 |
| | 4. | Other Rules of Note | 17 |
| VII. | LOCA | L BILL PROCESS IN THE HOUSE | 17 |
| | 1. | House Procedural Policies for Local Bills | 17 |
| | 2. | Local Bill Amendments | 17 |
| | 3. | Expedited Local Bill Calendar | 18 |
| VIII. | SENA | TE LOCAL BILL PROCESS | 18 |
| CHA | PTER 2 | SPECIAL DISTRICTS | 19 |
| I. | | ITION | |
| II. | | NDENT VERSUS INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICTS | |
| III. | | TING SPECIAL DISTRICTS | |
| | 1. | Requirements for Legislatively Created Districts | 20 |
| | | Statement Regarding the Creation of a District | |
| | 3. | Minimum Charter Requirements | 21 |
| | 4. | Referendum Requirement for an Independent Special District | 22 |
| | 5. | Special Districts Statutory Provisions | 22 |
| CHA | PTER 3 | CODIFICATION OF SPECIAL DISTRICT CHARTERS | 23 |
| I. | CODIF | FICATION BASICS | 23 |
| | 1. | Definition | 23 |
| | 2. | Requirements for Codifying Special District Charters | 23 |
| | 3. | Statutory Deadline for Codified Charters | 23 |
| | 4. | Status Statement | 24 |
| | 5. | Substantive Changes During Codification | 24 |
| | 6. | Coding a Charter Codification Bill | 24 |
| II. | PREP | ARING & DRAFTING A CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL | 24 |
| III. | | AL CONSIDERATIONS FOR CODIFYING A SPECIAL DISTR | |
| | 1. | District Boundary Changes | 25 |
| | 2 | Repealing Existing Chapter Laws | 25 |

| | 3. Referendum provisions in prior special acts | 25 |
|-----|--|---------|
| IV. | DRAFTING A CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL | 25 |
| V. | CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL CHECKLIST | 26 |
| APF | PENDIX A: THE ROLE OF LEGISLATIVE DELEGATIONS | 28 |
| APF | PENDIX B: HOUSE LOCAL BILL FORMS | 29 |
| | MODEL AFFIDAVIT OF PROOF OF PUBLICATION | 30 |
| | LOCAL BILL CERTIFICATION FORM | 31 |
| | ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT FORM | 33 |
| | LOCAL BILL AMENDMENT FORM | 37 |
| APF | PENDIX C: RESOURCES FOR LOCAL BILLS | 39 |
| APF | PENDIX D: EXAMPLES OF LOCAL BILLS | 40 |
| APF | PENDIX E: PROHIBITED SPECIAL LAWS "LIKE VOTE" PROVIS | SION 41 |
| APF | PENDIX F: FREQUENTLY ASKED QUESTIONS | 44 |

CHAPTER 1 Local Bill Basics

I. Introduction to Local Bills

1. THE DIFFERENT TYPES OF LAWS IN FLORIDA

The Florida Constitution recognizes two basic types of laws: general law and special law. These terms are not defined in the Florida Constitution but are explained by decisions of the Florida Supreme Court. A general law operates universally throughout the state, uniformly on specific subjects throughout the state, uniformly within a permissible classification, or relates to a state function or entity. Special laws operate on specific persons, things, or within classifications which would be impermissible or illegal for a general law.

General Law

As stated above, a general law operates universally throughout the state, uniformly on specific subjects throughout the state, or uniformly within a permissible classification or relates to a state function or entity. For example, the statutes pertaining to the creation and administration of independent special districts operate universally throughout the state.⁵ The statute excluding a community development district (CDD) from some general special district statutes⁶ and those authorizing the creation and administration of a CDD⁷ operate uniformly throughout the state upon this specific subset of independent special districts.

Uniform operation of a general law does not require universal application throughout the state. A valid general law may operate within a limited class of subjects provided that classification is based on some difference having a reasonable and just relationship to

¹ Art. III, ss. 10, 11(b), Fla. Const. These are not the only type of legislative actions but are the only ones resulting in laws. See H. R. 5.1. *But see* arts. V, s. 20(i), VIII, s. 6(h), XII, s. 11, Fla. Const.

² See License Acquisitions, LLC v. Debary Real Estate Holdings, LLC, 155 So. 3d 1137, 1142-1143 (Fla. 2015); Cesary v. Second National Bank, 369 So. 2d 917, 921 (Fla. 1979); Bloxham v. Florida Central & Peninsular Railroad, 17 So. 902, 924-925, 35 Fla. 625, 732-733 (Fla. 1895).

³ State ex rel. Landis v. Harris, 163 So. 237, 240, 120 Fla. 555, 562-563 (Fla. 1934). Harris lists a fourth type of classification: "relating to a State function or instrumentality." As matters pertaining to the state would be uniform throughout Florida, this appears to be a variant of the first category.

⁴ License Acquisitions, LLC, supra at 1142-1143.

⁵ Ch. 189. F.S.

⁶ S. 190.004, F.S.

⁷ Ch. 190. F.S.

the purpose of the statute.⁸ The measure of a valid classification used in a general law is whether there is a reasonable possibility that others in the future may meet the criteria of the classification.⁹ "Ultimately, the criterion that determines if a reasonable relationship exists between the classification adopted and the purpose of the statute is whether the classification is potentially open to additional parties."¹⁰

General Law of Local Application

A general law of local application is a general law operating within only a portion of the state due to a valid classification based on proper distinctions and differences between the affected geographical area(s) and the remainder of the state. ¹¹ The lack of home rule authority under the former Constitution of 1885 led to the passage and accumulation of a large number of "population acts," general laws applicable only to areas of the state falling within stated population ranges. Most of the population acts were repealed after adoption of the 1968 Florida Constitution and its provision for local government home rule. ¹² The present laws implementing home rule ¹³ provide local governments with sufficient authority and flexibility, largely eliminating the impetus to enact local policy concerns through general law applicable to specific locations. Unlike special laws, particularly local laws, a valid general law of local application does not require either prior notice of intent to file the proposed law or approval by local referendum.

Special Law

A special law operates on a specific category of people or subjects which classification is impermissible in general law. ¹⁴ A law purporting to create a separate classification of permit holders, but actually only acting to identify and provide an advantage to certain permit holders, was a special law. ¹⁵ Passage of a valid special law requires prior

⁸ "Moreover, not only must the classification be reasonable and not arbitrary but the classification must rest upon a difference which bears some reasonable and just relation to the subject matter affected or the act in respect of which the classification is proposed." *Carter v. Norman,* 38 So. 2d 30, 32 (Fla. 1948); *State ex rel. White v. Foley,*182 So. 195, 132 Fla. 595 (1938). A statute which relates to subjects, persons, or things as a class, based upon proper differences which are inherent in or peculiar to the class is, a general law. *State ex rel. Gray v. Stoutamire,* 179 So. 730, 131 Fla. 69 (1938)." *Cesary, supra* at 921. *See also Lewis v. Mathis,* 345 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1977); *Biscayne Kennel Club, Inc. v. Florida State Racing Commission,* 165 So. 2d 762, 763 (Fla. 1964); *State ex rel. Baldwin v. Coleman,* 3 So. 2d 802, 803, 148 Fla. 155, 157 (1941); *State ex rel. Blalock v. Lee,* 1 So. 2d 193, 195, 146 Fla. 385, 388 (1941); *State ex rel. Buford v. Daniel,* 99 So. 804, 809, 87 Fla. 270, 286-287 (1924).

Fla. Dep't of Bus. & Prof'l Regulation v. Gulfstream Park Racing Ass'n, Inc., 967 So. 2d 802, 808–09 (Fla.2007).
 License Acquisitions, LLC, supra at 1142-1143, citing Dept. of Business Regulation v. Classic Mile, Inc., 541 So. 2d 1155, 1158-1159 (Fla. 1989) (quoting Dep't of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, Inc., 434 So. 2d 879, 882 (Fla.1983)), Ocala Breeders' Sales Co., Inc. v. Fla. Gaming Ctrs., Inc., 731 So. 2d 21, 25 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999).

¹¹ See preceding note. See also House Bill Drafting Service, Guidelines for Drafting Legislation (2014), 4-5.

¹² See ch. 71-29, Laws of Fla.

¹³ See art. VIII, ss. 1, 2, Fla. Const., and chs. 125, 166, and 189, F.S.

¹⁴ License Acquisitions, LLC, supra at 1142-1143, and cases cited therein.

¹⁵ West Flagler Kennel Club, Inc. v. Florida State Racing Com., 153 So. 2d 5, 7-8 (Fla. 1963).

publication of a notice of intent to seek its enactment. Alternatively, the law may provide it becomes effective only after approval by the affected voters in a referendum. 16

Local Law

A local law is a form of special law¹⁷ that relates to or operates within a specific geographic area where such classification otherwise is not permissible.¹⁸ An example of a local law is an act providing for the proposed incorporation of a municipality.¹⁹

2. PURPOSE OF LOCAL BILLS

Local bills generally are proposed in the following circumstances:

- A local government is limited in its authority to accomplish a specific goal and must ask the Legislature for a special act;
- An area wishes to be exempted from a general law; 20 or
- The Legislature has retained authority to decide the local issue by special act (e.g., municipal incorporation and creation of independent special districts).

3. Initiating a Local Bill

A request for a local delegation to approve a local bill typically originates from:

- A member of a local legislative delegation;
- The county governing body;
- The municipal governing body;
- A locally elected official;
- · A special district or other local entity; or
- A member of the public.

4. LOCAL BILL FILING PROCESS IN THE HOUSE

An interested party may submit a request for a local bill either verbally or in writing to the local legislative delegation or to any member of the delegation.

The local legislative delegation has discretion whether to hear the issue being proposed for a local bill. If the local delegation agrees, the proposed local bill is considered at a public hearing of the delegation. Although the public hearing is not required by law, House policy requires all proposed local bills to be heard by the local legislative delegation at a

¹⁶ Art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const.

¹⁷ Art. X, s. 12(g), Fla. Const.

¹⁸ See State ex rel. Landis v. Harris, supra at 562-563. See also License Acquisitions, LLC, supra at 1142-1143.

¹⁹ Ch. 2015-182, Laws of Fla., which provided the charter for a proposed City of Panacea. In the referendum provided in the act the voters rejected the proposed incorporation.

²⁰ The bill should identify the specific sections and subsections of statute from which the local area is being exempted.

public hearing in the area that would be subject to the legislation. Once an issue has been discussed and the intent of the bill is clear, the legislative delegation votes on whether or not to support the proposed bill.

A local legislative delegation's rules govern the requirements for approval of a local bill for introduction. Usually, a majority of the legislative delegation must approve the proposed local bill for introduction. Some delegations may require unanimous approval while others may require approval by separate majorities of House and Senate delegation members.

By custom and courtesy, a member of the local legislative delegation in the area affected by a proposed bill will serve as the bill sponsor. County or municipal attorneys, or other appropriate local officials, are expected to draft local bills. House Bill Drafting Service reviews all drafts, correcting any technical errors and making other changes to conform to the requirements of the Florida Constitution, Florida Statutes, and Rules of the Florida House of Representatives.

If the local legislative delegation agrees to support the issue and introduce the local bill, the legislative delegation, or the local entity requesting the local bill (e.g., city, county, special district, incorporation study commission), is responsible for publishing a legal advertisement and ensuring proper notice.

A legal advertisement of the proposed bill must be placed in a newspaper of general circulation or published on a publicly accessible website²¹ at least 30 days prior to introduction of the local bill in the House or Senate. If there is no newspaper circulated throughout or published in the county and publication on a publicly accessible website is not permissible, notice must be posted for at least 30 days at not fewer than three public places in the county, one of which must be at the courthouse.²² If the bill is subject to a vote of the citizens (referendum), this legal advertisement is not required.

An affidavit of proof of publication of the legal advertisement in a newspaper is furnished by the newspaper that published the notice.²³ An affidavit of proof of publication on an appropriate internet website is made by someone with personal knowledge of the publication.²⁴ The proof of publication must be provided to House Bill Drafting Services along with the bill drafting request for the local bill. The proof of publication then is attached to the original copy of the bill when filed with the Clerk of the House or Secretary of the Senate.²⁵

²¹ All provisions related to publication on publicly accessible websites became effective January 1, 2023. See ch. 2022-103, Laws of Fla.

²² S. 11.02, F.S. See art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const.

²³ Ss. 11.021, 11.03, F.S.

²⁴ See ch. 2022-103, s. 6, Laws of Fla., codified at s. 50.051, F.S.

²⁵ House Rule 5.5(c). See also s. 11.03(2), F.S.

All local bills must be approved for filing with the Clerk of the House no later than noon of the first day of the regular session.²⁶

The House of Representatives' Local Bill Policy requires a completed and signed Local Bill Certification Form and a completed and signed Economic Impact Statement be filed with the Clerk of the House at the time the local bill is filed or as soon thereafter as possible. (The forms are available at www.myfloridahouse.gov.)

5. LOCAL DELEGATION MEETING GUIDELINES

All meetings at which the local legislative delegation discusses and/or votes on a proposed local bill should be properly noticed and open to the public.²⁷ The delegation should provide sufficient notice of the meeting so that all interested parties have an opportunity to address the delegation. The type of notice provided depends upon the facts of the situation, but each notice should be designed to reach all persons who are interested in the bill. In some instances, posting of the notice in an area set aside for that purpose may be sufficient; in others, publication in a local newspaper may be advisable.

The Florida Attorney General has suggested the following guidelines:²⁸

- The notice should contain the time and place of the meeting and, if available, an agenda (or if no agenda is available, subject matter summaries may be used).
- The notice should be displayed prominently in an area set aside for that purpose (e.g., for cities, in city hall).
- An emergency meeting should be afforded the most appropriate and effective notice under the circumstances. Special meetings should provide at least 24 hours reasonable notice to the public.
- The use of press releases and/or phone calls to wire services and other media is highly effective. On matters of critical public concern such as rezoning, budgeting, taxation, and the appointment of public officers, advertising in the local newspapers of general circulation is appropriate.

²⁶ House Rule 5.2(a).

²⁷ See Op. Att'y. Gen. Fla. 2000-08 (Fla. 2000).

²⁸ Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 94-62 (Fla. 1994).

II. NOTICE REQUIREMENTS FOR LOCAL BILLS

Before a local bill may be introduced into the Legislature, the requirements of the Florida Constitution²⁹ and relevant statutes³⁰ must be met. In limited situations, a referendum in lieu of notice may be appropriate.³¹

1. STATUTORY NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

A notice advertising intent to seek enactment of local legislation and describing the substance of the contemplated law must be published one time, at least 30 days prior to the bill's introduction in the Legislature.³² Publication may be by advertisement in a newspaper of general circulation or on a publicly accessible website of each affected county or, if no newspaper is published in or circulated throughout an affected county (or counties) and posting on a publicly accessible website is not permissible, by posting the notice for 30 days in three public places in each such county, including the courthouse.³³

In order to qualify as a newspaper of general circulation, a publication must:34

- Be printed and published at least once a week;
- Contain at least 25 percent of its words in the English language;
- Be entered or qualified to be admitted and entered as periodicals matter at a post office in the county where it is published;
- Be available to the public generally for publication of official or other notices;
- Customarily contain information of a public character, or of interest or value to the residents or owners of property in the county where published, or of interest or of value to the general public; and
- Have been in existence for two years or longer (certain exceptions may apply).

Alternatively, a governmental agency³⁵ may publish notice on a publicly accessible website of the affected county (or counties)³⁶ if the cost of publishing on the website is less than the cost of publishing in a newspaper of general circulation.³⁷ A "publicly

²⁹ Art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const. "Special laws.—No special law shall be passed unless notice of intention to seek enactment thereof has been published in the manner provided by general law. Such notice shall not be necessary when the law, except the provision for referendum, is conditioned to become effective only upon approval by vote of the electors of the affected area." Section 11.02, F.S., implements this constitutional requirement.

³⁰ Ss. 11.02, 11.021, 11.03, F.S. See also s. 189.062(3), F.S.

³¹ See Chapter 1, Section III, Part 1 of this manual for more information.

³² S. 11.02, F.S., implementing art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const. *See also Totten v. Okaloosa County Gas District*, 164 So. 2d 15, 17 (Fla. 1964).

³³ Id.

³⁴ Ss. 50.011, 50.031, F.S.

³⁵ "A county, municipality, school board, or other unit of local government or political subdivision in this state. S. 50.0311(1), F.S. See ch. 2022-103, s. 5, Laws of Fla.

³⁶ If a special district spans more than one county, the notice must be published on a publicly accessible website of each county. S. 50.0311(5), F.S.

³⁷ S. 50.0311(3), F.S.

accessible website" is defined as "a county's official website or other private website designated by the county for the publication of legal notices and advertisements that is accessible via the Internet." Additionally, a governmental agency with at least 75 percent of its population located in a county with a population that is less than 160,000 must first hold a public hearing, noticed in a newspaper, where a determination is made that residents of the affected county have sufficient access to the Internet such that notice of this character will not unreasonably restrict public access. 39

A notice published on a publicly accessible website must:

- Be in searchable form;
- Indicate the date on which the notice was first published on the website;
- Be conspicuously placed on the website's homepage or on a page with a direct link from the homepage; and
- Be conspicuously placed on the homepage of the website of each governmental agency publishing notices on the publicly accessible website or a page accessible through a direct link from the homepage.⁴⁰

For a local bill not subject to referendum, evidence the notice was properly published must be established in the Legislature by attaching an affidavit of proof of publication to the proposed local bill when it is introduced into the House or Senate.⁴¹ A sample affidavit of proof of publication appears in Appendix B of this manual.

2. FORMAT FOR NOTICE OF LEGISLATION

An example of a notice of legislation is as follows:

NOTICE OF LEGISLATION [or]

NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK LEGISLATION

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN: Notice is hereby given of intent to apply to the Florida Legislature, in the 2019 regular or any special or extended legislative sessions, for passage of an act relating to Lee County, amending chapter 30931, Laws of Florida, 1955, relating to sales at auction, to exempt from the provisions thereof specified persons and firms.

A local bill not passed during the regular session for which it is advertised may be heard during a subsequent special or extended session. Therefore, the above form of notice

³⁸ S. 50.0311(2), F.S. See ch. 2022-103, s. 5, Laws of Fla.

³⁹ S. 50.0311(4), F.S. See ch. 2022-103, s. 5, Laws of Fla.

⁴⁰ S. 50.0311(2) and (7), F.S. See ch. 2022-103, s. 5, Laws of Fla.

⁴¹ See, e.g., House Rule 5.5(c). See also ss. 11.021, 11.03, 50.051, F.S., ch. 2022-103, s. 6, Laws of Fla.

includes language broadening the applicability to special or extended sessions in the year given.

For more information on the notice provision and drafting local bills, see <u>Guidelines for Drafting Legislation</u> (2014), pp. 8 – 12, published by House Bill Drafting Service.

3. SUBSTANCE INCLUDED IN THE NOTICE

The substance of a proposed local bill must be summarized in the advertised notice. The notice must include all matters contained in the body of the proposed legislation, although the specific contents need not be listed in detail. The notice must provide reasonable notice to a person whose interests may be directly affected by the proposed legislation so that person may inquire further into the details of the local bill and, if desired, seek to prevent enactment or persuade the Legislature to change the substance of the proposed bill.⁴²

The title of the proposed bill often is used as the text of the notice because the Florida Constitution similarly requires the title to briefly express the subject of the legislation.⁴³ However, a broader description in the published notice allows room for potential amendments to the bill after its introduction that otherwise would be outside the scope of the original title and, consequently, would require publication of a new notice.⁴⁴

4. SUBSTANTIVE AMENDMENTS MUST CONFORM TO NOTICE REQUIREMENTS

Once filed, a local bill is subject to the same amendatory process as any other bill. ⁴⁵ If the bill as finally enacted into law "accord(s) in substance and purpose and (is) germane to and within the scope of the subject-matter of the published notice," ⁴⁶ the constitutional notice provision is met and no further notice need be published. ⁴⁷ If an amendment substantially changes a bill so that the substance is outside the scope of the published notice, a constitutional problem may be created unless a new notice is published or the bill is amended to require a constitutionally-compliant referendum. ⁴⁸ If the original bill includes a compliant referendum provision, the bill may be readily amended in compliance with the House Rules as long as the referendum provision is retained. The Legislature may choose to add a referendum provision even if notice of intent to file the bill was published properly. ⁴⁹

⁴² North Ridge General Hospital, Inc. v. Oakland Park, 374 So. 2d 461, 463-464 (Fla. 1979), citing Coldeway v. Board of Public Instruction, 189 So. 2d 878, 880 (Fla. 1966).

⁴³ Art. III, s. 6, Fla. Const. See North Ridge General Hospital, Inc., supra at 463-464.

⁴⁴ House Bill Drafting Service, Guidelines for Drafting Legislation (2014), 10.

⁴⁵ State ex rel Landis v. Reardon, 154 So. 868, 869, 114 Fla. 755, 757-758 (1934).

⁴⁶ State ex rel. Watson v. Miami, 15 So. 2d 481, 483, 153 Fla. 653, 656 (1941).

⁴⁷ Id.

⁴⁸ Art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const.

⁴⁹ See Op. Att'y. Gen. Fla. 059-98 (1959).

To avoid creating a potential constitutional issue the original bill should be advertised in a broad manner. A narrow, specific advertisement for a bill may limit the scope of substantive amendments for consideration. For example, if a local bill excludes a specific tract of property from a district, rather than advertising "excluding one tract of property from the district," the advertisement might state "excluding property from the district." Such an advertisement allows for resolving unforeseen controversies by amending the bill without affecting its notice.

If a local bill passes one chamber with provisions creating a potentially defective notice, those provisions could be revised by the other chamber. Once the engrossed bill is reviewed by staff in the receiving chamber, constitutional concerns may be brought to the attention of the members. The provisions at issue then may be removed by amendment, correcting a potentially defective notice.

5. NOTICE ARRANGEMENT AND PAYMENT

Those parties most interested in the passage of the bill (a citizens' group, a local official, etc.) generally assume this responsibility. Neither the Florida Constitution nor Florida Statutes impose a duty on any particular person to arrange and pay for the notice.

III. REFERENDUM REQUIREMENTS FOR LOCAL BILLS

1. REFERENDUM IN LIEU OF NOTICE

Any local bill not properly advertised in advance must be conditioned to become effective only upon approval by vote of the electors of the area affected.⁵⁰ In such bills, the effective date is replaced with a section calling for a referendum and basing the effectiveness of the act on the outcome of the election.

In certain bills not otherwise requiring approval by referendum (such as a bill creating a municipality), the Legislature, as a matter of policy, often allows the affected voters to decide by including a referendum requirement in the bill.

For a bill requiring approval in a referendum before the act may go into effect, the approval of a majority of those *voting* in the election is required for adoption of the act.⁵¹ Those voting must be qualified electors within the affected area. If the referendum is to be held in a special election, the time for the election must be set by the county commission, city commission, or other specified appropriate local governing body.

9

⁵⁰ Art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const. As used in the Florida Constitution, the phrase "'(v)ote of the electors' means the vote of the majority of those voting on the matter in an election, general or special, in which those participating are limited to the electors of the governmental unit referred to in the text." Art. X, s. 12(d), Fla. Const. See also Harris v. Baden, 17 So. 2d 608, 609, 154 Fla. 373, 375 (1944).

⁵¹ Art. X, s. 12(d), Fla. Const.

2. MODEL REFERENDUM PROVISION

A referendum section in a local bill should provide the following:

- Specify the act is to take effect only upon its approval by vote of the electors in the area affected by the law.
- Describe when and by whom the referendum must be held, and whether it will be held in conjunction with a special election, primary election, or general election.⁵²
- Provide that the referendum section itself takes effect upon becoming law.

The following example is the referendum section from a local bill enacted into law (the bold text may be referenced as suggested model language):

This act shall take effect only upon its approval by a majority vote of those qualified electors residing within the area being transferred from Collier County to the Greater Naples Fire Rescue District described in section 1 voting in a_referendum to be held in conjunction with a general, special, or other election to be held in Collier County no later than December 31, 2016, except that this section shall take effect upon becoming law.⁵³

Note the text provides for "approval by a majority vote of those qualified electors residing within the area...voting in a referendum...." To reiterate, the Florida Constitution requires approval by vote of the electors of the affected area,⁵⁴ defined as a majority of those voting in an election in which participation is limited to the electors of that area.⁵⁵

3. REQUIRED REFERENDA

Even if notice of intent to file the local bill is published properly, a referendum must be held if the bill does any of the following:

- Creates or revises certain ad valorem taxing power, authorizes certain ad valorem millage rates, or provides for issuance of certain bonds.⁵⁶
- Establishes, amends, or repeals a county charter. 57

⁵⁵ Art. X, s. 12(d), Fla. Const. See also Harris v. Baden, supra at 17 So. 2d 609.

⁵² City of Lake Wales v. Florida Citrus Canners Cooperative, 191 So. 2d 453, 456-457 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966). See also Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 072-2 (1972).

⁵³ Ch. 2016-261, s. 2, Laws of Fla.

⁵⁴ Art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const.

⁵⁶ Art. VII, ss. 9(b) and 12(a), Fla. Const. *See, City of Parker v. State*, 992 So. 2d 171, 179-180 (Fla. 2008); *State v. Miami Beach Redevelopment Agency*, 392 So. 2d 875, 893-899 (Fla. 1980). Certain revisions to taxing authority within existing millage limits, both of which were previously approved by referendum, may not require a new referendum. *Bailey v. Ponce de Leon Port Authority*, 398 So. 2d 812, 814-815 (Fla. 1981).

⁵⁷ Art. VIII, s. 1(c), Fla. Const.

- Consolidates municipal and county government. The referendum may involve the electors of the county in a single vote, or the electors of the county and municipality (or municipalities) voting separately, as provided in the consolidation plan.⁵⁸
- Combines school districts. For purposes of the statewide system of public education, the Florida Constitution authorizes two or more contiguous counties to combine themselves into one school district. This could be accomplished locally or by the Legislature through a local bill. This action must be approved by the electors of each county.⁵⁹
- Provides for an appointed (rather than elected) school superintendent. If authorized by special law or by resolution of the district school board, the school district may change the superintendent selection method from an election to direct employment by the district school board. Such a special law or resolution also must be approved by the voters in the district.⁶⁰

IV. House Forms

1. LOCAL BILL FORMS

House policy requires a completed and signed (1) Local Bill Certification Form and (2) Economic Impact Statement Form be filed with the Clerk of the House at the time the local bill is filed or as soon thereafter as possible. Under this policy, no local bill may be considered by any committee or subcommittee without these completed forms. Upon filing, the Clerk of the House will scan the forms into the system in order to link the forms to the filed bill and make them generally available. The House Rules require all local bills, including local claim bills, not providing for a ratifying referendum to be accompanied by an affidavit certifying proof of publication of the notice of seeking enactment of the bill.

a. Local Bill Certification Form

Using the Local Bill Certification Form, the local legislative delegation certifies the purpose of the bill cannot be accomplished at the local level without a referendum; ⁶¹ a public hearing has been held on the substance of the bill in the area to be affected by the proposed law; all constitutional, statutory, and policy requirements for filing have been satisfied; whether the bill authorizes changes in the ad valorem millage rate for a special district; and whether the bill was approved by the required majority or unanimous vote of the delegation members.

b. Economic Impact Statement

The Economic Impact Statement (EIS) describes projected changes in revenues, costs, funding sources, and the overall economic effects created by the bill for the first two fiscal

⁵⁸ Art. VIII, s. 3, Fla. Const.

⁵⁹ Art. IX, s. 4(a) Fla. Const.

⁶⁰ Art. IX, s. 5, Fla. Const.

⁶¹ House Rule 5.5(a).

years after the bill takes effect. Before entering the data on the EIS, the column headers on the form should be labeled to state the two complete fiscal years for the affected local government after the bill goes into effect. For example, if the bill is to be adopted during the 2023 Session, the headings would be labeled "2023-2024" and "2024-2025." Additionally, those preparing the EIS certify to their qualifications to prepare the statement, personal knowledge of the information, and that the statement is true and accurate (for example, a chief financial officer of a particular local government).

c. Affidavit of Proof of Publication

As more fully discussed above in Part II, section 1 of this manual, the constitutional requirement for publishing notice of a proposed local bill is implemented by statute. ⁶² For those local bills not providing for a ratifying referendum, the affidavit of proof of publication must accompany the bill when filed. ⁶³

2. LOCAL BILL AMENDMENT FORMS

Before any substantive amendment to a local bill may be considered in a House subcommittee or committee or on the floor, a completed original Local Bill Amendment Form must be provided to and reviewed by staff of the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee. This form briefly describes the amendment, explains the need for the change, states whether the amendment is consistent with the published notice, states whether the amendment alters the economic impact of the local bill, provides whether the amendment was approved by the local legislative delegation (if so, whether by a majority or unanimous vote), and is signed by the local delegation chair. Subject to the internal rules of the delegation, the delegation members need not meet formally or meet in the affected county to consider the amendment. An amendment form is not required for technical amendments. If the amendment alters the economic impact of the local bill, a revised Economic Impact Statement must be prepared and filed timely.

See Appendix B for exemplars of the local bill forms as well as the weblink to their location on the House website. The online versions are available as fillable .pdf forms.

V. CONSTITUTIONAL & STATUTORY PROVISIONS FOR LOCAL BILLS

1. CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY NOTICE PROVISIONS

- Article III, section 4(e), Florida Constitution.
- Article III, section 10, Florida Constitution.
- Article X, sections 12(d), 12(g), Florida Constitution.
- Sections 11.02, 11.021, 11.03, F.S.

⁶² See art. III, s. 10, Fla. Const., and ss. 11.02, 11.021, 11.03, F.S. Section 11.03, F.S., provides a suggested form for the affidavit of proof of publication.

⁶³ House Rule 5.5(c).

Sections 50.011, 50.031, 50.0311, F.S.

2. LOCAL BILL STRUCTURE

A local bill shares the same required basic structure as a general act:64

- A bill must consist of one subject and matter properly connected therewith. The subject is expressed in the title of the bill. The basic "single subject" test is whether the provisions of the bill are designed to accomplish separate goals.⁶⁵
- A bill must have a title in which the subject of the bill is expressed properly. The
 title should express the subject of the bill by sufficiently stating the scope of the
 details contained in the body of the text.⁶⁶
- No existing law may be amended by reference only to its title.
- To amend an existing law, that portion of the law being amended must be set out in full
- Every bill must have an enacting clause that reads "Be It Enacted by the Legislature of the State of Florida."

For more detailed direction on drafting the required components for a bill, consult the <u>Guidelines for Drafting Legislation</u> (2014) prepared by the House Bill Drafting Service.

3. LOCAL BILL EFFECTIVE DATE

A law either takes effect 60 days after final adjournment of the Legislature or as provided in the act.⁶⁷ Unlike the enacting clause, an effective date is not an essential component of a bill. However, the final section of most bills includes such a date, or provides the bill is effective upon becoming law, or, if a local bill requiring approval by referendum, the final section provides the law does not go into effect until approved at the referendum also provided in the text.

⁶⁴ Art. III, s. 6, Fla. Const.

⁶⁵ See State ex rel. Crump v. Sullivan, 128 So. 478, 99 Fla. 1070 (1930); Ex parte Knight, 41 So. 786, 52 Fla. 144 (1906). See also House Bill Drafting Service, <u>Guidelines for Drafting Legislation</u> (2014), 2-3.

⁶⁶ Guidelines for Drafting Legislation (2014), 27.

⁶⁷ Art. III, s. 9, Fla. Const.

4. CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS FOR SUBJECT MATTER

a. Subjects Prohibited in Local Bills by the Florida Constitution

Article III, section 11(a), Florida Constitution, states:

"There shall be no special law or general law of local application pertaining to:

- (1) Election, jurisdiction, or duties of officers (except officers of municipalities, chartered counties, special districts, or local governmental agencies);
- (2) Assessment or collection of taxes for state or county purposes, including extension of time thereof, relief of tax officers from due performance of their duties, and relief of their sureties from liability;
- (3) Rules of evidence in any court;
- (4) Punishment for crime;
- (5) Petit juries, including compensation of jurors, except establishment of jury commissions;
- (6) Change of civil or criminal venue;
- (7) Conditions precedent to bringing any civil or criminal proceeding, or limitations of time thereof:
- (8) Refund of money legally paid or remission of fines, penalties, or forfeitures;
- (9) Creation, enforcement, extension, or impairment of liens based on private contracts, or fixing of interest rates on private contracts;
- (10) Disposal of public property, including any interest therein, for private purposes;
- (11) Vacation of roads;
- (12) Private incorporation or grant of privilege to a private corporation;⁶⁸
- (13) Effectuation of invalid deeds, wills, or other instruments, or change in the law of descent;
- (14) Change of name of any person;
- (15) Divorce;

(13) DIVOICE,

- (16) Legitimation or adoption of persons;
- (17) Relief of minors from legal disabilities;
- (18) Transfer of any property interest of persons under legal disabilities or transfer of estates of decedents;
- (19) Hunting or fresh water fishing;
- (20) Regulation of occupations which are regulated by a state agency; or

⁶⁸ The courts read "privilege" broadly to include not only financial benefits but also any right, benefit, or advantage granted to a corporation. See Lawnwood Medical Center v. Seeger, 990 So. 2d 503, 512 (Fla. 2008).

Any subject when prohibited by general law passed by a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house. Such law may be amended or repealed by like vote."69

This list should be consulted before initiating a local bill. However, a local bill should not be presumed to comply with the Florida Constitution simply because the particular topic of the bill is not found on the prohibited subjects list.

Prohibited Special Laws "Like Vote" Requirement

There has been no judicial decision directly determining whether the "like vote" provision in article III, section 11(a)(21), Florida Constitution is met by passing a subsequent local bill by a three-fifths vote in each chamber, or requires amending the original general law by that margin before enacting an otherwise-prohibited local law. Those seeking passage of a local bill on a subject prohibited by general law passed under authority of article III, section 11(a)(21), Florida Constitution should be aware of the three-fifths vote requirement. Until there is a definitive judicial decision, there may be potentially conflicting interpretations of the constitutional provision.⁷⁰

b. Additional Constitutional Requirements

Local bills may have additional constitutional requirements or prohibitions depending on their subject matter. For example, no general law or special law may create an office having a term greater than four years.⁷¹

c. Constitutional Restrictions for Local Bills Relating to Miami-Dade County

The Legislature may enact general acts applicable to all counties and municipalities within the state. However, the Florida Constitution limits the Legislature's power to enact a local

15

⁶⁹ The Legislature has used this authority to restrict local legislation on various subjects as follows:

⁽¹⁾ Protection of public employee retirement benefits (s. 112.67, F.S.).

⁽²⁾ State-administered or state-supported retirement systems (s. 121.191, F.S.).

⁽³⁾ Compensation of designated county officials (s. 145.16, F.S.).
(4) Independent special districts (s. 189.031(2), F.S.).

⁽⁵⁾ The creation of a special district having the power enumerated in two or more paragraphs of s. 190.012, F.S. (s. 190.049, F.S.).

⁽⁶⁾ The maximum rate of interest on bonds (s. 215.845, F.S.).

⁽⁷⁾ Grant of authority, power, rights or privileges to a water control district formed pursuant to ch. 298, F.S. (s. 298.76(1), F.S.).

⁽⁸⁾ Allocation of millage for water management purposes (s. 373.503(2)(b), F.S.).

⁽⁹⁾ Taxation for school purposes and the Florida Education Finance Program (s. 1011.77, F.S.).

⁽¹⁰⁾ State uniform building code for public educational facilities construction (s. 1013.37(5), F.S.).

⁷⁰ See Appendix E for a more detailed discussion of the three-fifths vote requirement.

⁷¹ Art. III, s. 13, Fla. Const.

bill relating only to Miami-Dade County. To Conversely, Miami-Dade County may abolish boards or governmental units created by special act applicable only to the County, and may change any duties, functions, benefits, or regulatory or restrictive effect of such acts. To

VI. HOUSE RULES PERTAINING TO LOCAL BILLS

As with all legislation, local bills are filed and processed according to the rules adopted separately by the House and Senate.⁷⁴ This section summarizes the House Rules pertaining to filing and considering local bills.⁷⁵

1. Rule 5.2—Member Bill Filing Deadline

Local bills are subject to the same filing deadline as general bills:

No general bill, *local bill*, joint resolution, appropriations project bill, concurrent resolution (except one relating to extension of a session or legislative organization or procedures), substantive House resolution, or memorial shall be given first reading unless approved for filing with the Clerk no later than noon of the first day of the regular session.⁷⁶

2. Rule 5.3—Limitation on Member Bills Filed

While House members may not file more than seven bills for a regular session,⁷⁷ local bills, including local claim bills, are not counted toward this limit.⁷⁸

3. RULE 5.5—LOCAL BILLS

[The current House Rule on local bills is quoted in full below:]

(a) A committee or subcommittee may not report a local bill favorably if the substance of the local bill may be enacted into law by ordinance of a local governing body without the legal need for a referendum.

⁷² Art. VIII, s. 11, Fla. Const. (1885), retained by reference in art. VIII, s. 6(e), Fla. Const. (1968). *See, State ex rel. Worthington v. Cannon,* 181 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 1965), cert. den. 384 U.S. 981, 86 S.Ct. 1881, 16 L.Ed.2d 691 (1966); *Homestead Hospital, Inc. v. Miami-Dade County,* 829 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 3d DCA 2002).

⁷³ Chase v. Cowart, 102 So. 2d 147 (Fla. 1958).

⁷⁴ "Each house shall determine its rules of procedure." Art. III, s. 4(a), Fla. Const., quoted in part.

⁷⁵ The House adopts its rules for the legislative biennium during the organizational session held after every election. *See* art. III, s. 3(a), Fla. Const.

⁷⁶ House Rule 5.2(a), emphasis added. House Bill Drafting Service establishes a "bill drafting" deadline which usually is three weeks before the filing deadline established by rule. In addition, there may be deadlines established by each local legislative delegation. Persons interested in scheduling local bills for a local hearing should contact their legislative delegation for that information.

⁷⁷ House Rule 5.3(a).

⁷⁸ House Rule 5.3(b).

- (b) A local bill that provides an exemption from general law may not be placed on the Special Order Calendar in any section reserved for the expedited consideration of local bills.
- (c) All local bills, including local claim bills, must either, as required by Section 10 of Article III of the State Constitution, embody provisions for a ratifying referendum (stated in the title as well as in the text of the bill) or be accompanied by an affidavit of proper advertisement, securely attached to the original bill ahead of its first page.

4. OTHER RULES OF NOTE

House members need not wait until the beginning of the regular legislative session to file a local bill. Between the organizational session and the convening of the first regular session of the two-year period, and during the interim period between the first and second regular sessions, members may file local bills that have been reviewed by the House Bill Drafting Service. ⁷⁹ Unlike general bills, the Bill Drafting Service only reviews local bill drafts. However, "no change may be made in the text or title of the bill without returning the bill to the House Bill Drafting Service before filing." ⁸⁰

VII. LOCAL BILL PROCESS IN THE HOUSE

1. HOUSE PROCEDURAL POLICIES FOR LOCAL BILLS

The first committee/ subcommittee of reference, must confirm:

- The required notice has been published or a referendum, if required, is provided properly in the bill; and
- The required House forms have been filed.⁸¹

A local bill follows the same process as a general bill. The bill is introduced and referred by the Speaker to committees and subcommittees. After being recommended favorably by or withdrawn from the committees or subcommittees to which it was referred, a local bill proceeds to the House calendar.

2. LOCAL BILL AMENDMENTS

As discussed above in part IV, local bills may be amended in any subcommittee or committee or on the floor. All substantive amendments must be accompanied by a completed Local Bill Amendment Form. Technical amendments do not require the form. All amendments to local bills must be reviewed by the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee staff before consideration by committees, by subcommittees, or on the floor.

80 House Rule 5.15(a).

⁷⁹ House Rule 5.13.

⁸¹ See chapter 1, part IV, above for a discussion of the forms required by House local bill policy.

3. EXPEDITED LOCAL BILL CALENDAR

The House Rules Committee may include a specific section of a special order calendar to consider local bills that do not contain exemptions from general law, 82 constitutional issues, or floor amendments. This procedure enables the House to move a group of non-contentious local bills to the Senate in an expeditious manner.

In prior House practice, voting on the expedited local bill calendar was achieved by a single roll call vote rather than individual votes on each bill. The single roll call vote was taken at the conclusion of the reading of the bills on the expedited local bill calendar.

Any member who wanted to vote "no" on a local bill on the expedited calendar was required to file the appropriate form with the Clerk. The Clerk then adjusted the expedited local bill calendar vote count accordingly to reflect all registered "no" votes.

Removing a bill from the expedited calendar required notice by five members during consideration of the bill. The notice was presented by a raising of hands during the reading of the bill or in written form delivered to the chair of the Rules Committee prior to the reading. A bill removed from the expedited calendar was placed at the end of the special order calendar for that day.

VIII. SENATE LOCAL BILL PROCESS

Local bills may be introduced in the Senate but this occurs to a lesser extent than in the House. Rather than filing and handling companion measures to local bills filed in the House, in recent years the Senate has waited to proceed until all local bills passed by the House were received. Once received, the House bills are then scheduled for consideration on the Senate floor. When filing a local bill, the applicable rules of the Senate, 83 and their differences with the House procedures, 84 should be considered.

⁸² House Rule 5.5(b).

⁸³ Senate Rule 3 controls the preparation and filing of bills. Senate Rule 3.3 states the required form for local bills filed in the Senate.

⁸⁴ Unlike the House, the Senate Rules do not require local bills to be filed with the Secretary of the Senate by noon on the first day of session. Senate Rule 3.7(1)(d) (2022-2024).

CHAPTER 2 Special Districts

I. DEFINITION

A "special district" is a unit of local government created for a particular purpose, with jurisdiction to operate within a limited geographic boundary. ⁸⁵ Special districts are created by general law, special act, local ordinance, or rule of the Governor and Cabinet. ⁸⁶ A special district has only those powers expressly provided by, or reasonably implied from, the authority provided in the district's charter. ⁸⁷ A special district provides only those public services as authorized in its charter. ⁸⁸

The following entities are not special districts:89

- Units of local general-purpose government (counties and municipalities);
- School districts;
- Community college districts;
- Municipal service taxing or benefit units;⁹⁰
- Seminole and Miccosukee tribe special improvement districts created under s. 285.17, F.S.; and
- Boards providing electrical services and that are political subdivisions of a municipality or part of a municipality.

II. DEPENDENT VERSUS INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICTS

A "dependent special district" has at least one of the following characteristics:91

- The governing body of the district is identical to the governing body of a single county or a municipality;
- The governing body of the district is appointed by the governing body of a single county or a municipality;
- Members of the governing body of the district are subject to removal by the governing body of a single county or municipality during unexpired terms; or
- The district's budget must be approved by the governing body of a single county or municipality.

⁸⁵ See Halifax Hospital Medical Center v. State of Fla., et al., 278 So. 3d 545, 547 (Fla. 2019)

⁸⁶ See ss. 189.031(3), 189.02(1), and 190.005(1), F.S. See, generally, s. 189.012(6), F.S.

⁸⁷ Halifax Hospital Medical Center, supra note 78 at 547.

⁸⁸ See ss. 189.011(2), 189.031, F.S.

⁸⁹ S. 189.012(6), F.S. See also art. VIII, ss. 1(a), 2(b), Fla. Const.; ss. 125.01(1). (3), 166.021(1), F.S.

⁹⁰ See s. 125.01(q), F.S.

⁹¹ S. 189.012(2), F.S.

An "independent special district" is any district that is not a dependent special district. 92

III. CREATING SPECIAL DISTRICTS

Independent special districts are created by the Legislature except as otherwise provided by general law. ⁹³ Dependent special districts may be created by an ordinance of a county or municipality having jurisdiction over the affected area or by the Legislature. ⁹⁴

1. REQUIREMENTS FOR LEGISLATIVELY CREATED DISTRICTS

In 1989, exercising its authority in article III, section 11(a)(21), Florida Constitution, the Legislature prohibited local laws or general laws of local application pertaining to independent special districts from having certain effects⁹⁵ unless the general law is amended or repealed by a similar three-fifths vote.⁹⁶ Generally, a local bill may not create an independent special district with a charter that does not include the minimum statutory requirements⁹⁷ or for which a statement regarding the creation of the district was not submitted to the Legislature.⁹⁸ Further, a local bill may not exempt an independent special district from any of the following:

- Statutory requirements and procedures for special district elections; 99
- Special district bond referenda requirements;¹⁰⁰
- Special district bond issuance reporting requirements;¹⁰¹
- Special district public facilities reports; 102
- Special district public meeting and notice requirements;¹⁰³ and
- Special district reports, budgets, and audits.¹⁰⁴

⁹² S. 189.012(3), F.S. A special district that includes territory in more than one county is an independent special district, unless that district lies wholly within the boundaries of a single municipality.

93 S. 189.031(4), F.S.

⁹⁴ See s. 189.02(1), (5), F.S.

⁹⁵ Ch. 89-169, s. 6, Laws of Fla., now codified as s. 189.031(2), F.S. The three-fifths vote requirement was recited expressly in s. 67 of the act.

⁹⁶ See Appendix E for further discussion of the three-fifths vote requirement.

⁹⁷ S. 189.031(2)(a), F.S. See s. 189.031(3), F.S.

⁹⁸ S. 189.031(2)(e), F.S.

⁹⁹ S. 189.031(2)(b), F.S. See s. 189.04, F.S.

¹⁰⁰ S. 189.031(2)(c), F.S. See s. 189.042, F.S.

¹⁰¹ S. 189.031(2)(d), F.S. See s. 189.051, F.S.

¹⁰² S. 189.031(2)(d), F.S. See s.189.08, F.S.

¹⁰³ S. 189.031(2)(d), F.S. See s. 189.015, F.S.

¹⁰⁴ S. 189.031(2)(d), F.S. See s. 189.016, F.S.

2. STATEMENT REGARDING THE CREATION OF A DISTRICT

The proposed creation of the independent special district must include a statement to the Legislature documenting the following:

- The purpose of the proposed district;
- The authority of the proposed district;
- An explanation of why the district is the best alternative; and
- A resolution or official statement of the appropriate local governing body in which the proposed district would be located stating:
 - The creation of the proposed district is consistent with approved local government plans of the local governing body; and
 - o The local government has no objection to the creation of the proposed district.

3. MINIMUM CHARTER REQUIREMENTS

Local bills enacted after September 30, 1989, creating independent special districts, must include the following minimum charter elements: 105

- The district's purpose;
- The district's powers, duties, and functions regarding ad valorem taxation, bond issuance, other revenue raising capabilities, budget preparation and approval, liens and foreclosure of liens, use of tax deeds and tax certificates for non-ad valorem assessments, and contractual agreements;
- The method for establishing the district;
- The methods for amending the district's charter;
- The membership and organization of the district's governing board;
- The maximum compensation of the district's governing board members;
- The administrative duties of the district's governing board;
- The financial disclosure, noticing, and reporting requirements for the district;
- The procedures and requirements for issuing bonds, if the district has such authority;
- The district's election and referendum procedures and the qualifications to be a district elector;
- The district's financing methods;
- The authorized millage rate for a district which can levy ad valorem taxes; 106
- The methods for collecting non-ad valorem assessments, fees, or service charges;
- Planning requirements; and
- Geographic boundary limitations.

-

¹⁰⁵ S. 189.031(3), F.S.

¹⁰⁶ Taxes levied for the payment of bonds and taxes levied for periods not longer than two years, when authorized by vote of the electors of the district, need not be included.

All special district charters must contain a status statement indicating whether the district is dependent or independent. 107

4. REFERENDUM REQUIREMENT FOR AN INDEPENDENT SPECIAL DISTRICT

A bill creating a new independent special district does not require approval by local referendum unless the act authorizes the district to levy ad valorem taxes once created. 108 If the bill creating the district authorizes the levy of ad valorem taxes only upon future voter approval after a subsequent referendum, an initial referendum approving the bill is not required.

5. Special Districts Statutory Provisions

The statutes pertaining to special districts include, but are not limited to, the following:

- Chapter 189, F.S.: Special Districts: General Provisions
- Chapter 190, F.S.: Community Development Districts
- Chapter 191, F.S.: Independent Special Fire Control Districts
- Chapter 298, F.S.: Drainage and Water Control
- Chapter 348, F.S.: Expressway and Bridge Authorities
- Chapter 374, F.S.: Navigation Districts
- Chapter 388, F.S.: Mosquito Control
- Chapter 421, F.S.: Public Housing
- Chapter 582. F.S.: Soil and Water Conservation

¹⁰⁷ Ss. 189.022, 189.031(5), F.S.

¹⁰⁸ See art. VII, s. 9(b), Fla. Const. (special districts may levy ad valorem taxes up to a millage authorized by law approved by a vote the electors of the district).

CHAPTER 3 Codification of Special District Charters

I. CODIFICATION BASICS

1. **DEFINITION**

"Codification" is the process of collecting and systematically arranging the various special acts comprising a special district's charter. The Florida Statutes are codified, compiled into several volumes, and published on a yearly basis to provide a complete, up-to-date presentation of the current state of the laws of a general and permanent nature. This process does not include special acts.

Special acts are published in the Laws of Florida and are not codified. After the Legislature passes the initial enabling act, subsequent special acts may amend or alter previously enacted special acts. To ascertain the current status of any special act, it is necessary to research all amendments made to the act since its original passage.

Codification of a district's charter allows researchers and those served by the district to refer to one special act to determine the current charter of a district. The purpose of recodifying the charter of a special district is to produce an up-to-date and accurate document.¹⁰⁹

2. REQUIREMENTS FOR CODIFYING SPECIAL DISTRICT CHARTERS

Recodifying the charter of a special district requires integrating the special act comprising the current charter, together with all subsequent special acts modifying the charter, into a single local bill filed with the Legislature. Once enacted into law, the codified act is filed with the Department of Economic Opportunity within 30 days after adoption.¹¹⁰

3. STATUTORY DEADLINE FOR CODIFIED CHARTERS

A statutory deadline for submitting charters to the Legislature for codification previously was set for December 1, 2004. Any special district that had not yet submitted a draft codified charter to the Legislature for consideration was encouraged to do so. Submission of a draft codified charter is recommended for all special districts for which no codified charter was enacted into law.

¹⁰⁹ For a general example of an enacted charter recodification law, see ch. 2017-203, Laws of Fla., recodifying the charter for the Fellsmere Drainage District. Substantive changes to a special district's charter may also be made in a recodification bill, see ch. 2021-249, Laws of Fla., recodifying the charter for the Loxahatchee River Environmental Control District.

¹¹⁰ S. 189.016(2), F.S.

¹¹¹ S. 189.019(1), F.S.

4. STATUS STATEMENT

The charter of any newly created special district shall contain, and the charter of a preexisting special district must be amended as practical to contain, a statement of the special district's status as dependent or independent. When necessary, the status statement must be amended to conform to the Department of Economic Opportunity's determination or declaratory statement regarding the status of the district. If the district fails to have a status statement within the district's codification bill, the statement may be amended into the bill after consulting with the district and the bill sponsor.

5. Substantive Changes During Codification

While substantive changes to the charter could be made when codifying, the better practice is to recodify the existing charter provisions in one local bill and make substantive charter amendments in subsequent legislation. When making substantive charter amendments, any changes in background materials or information provided to the public, the governing board, and the Legislature should be identified.

6. CODING A CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL

"Coding" is the drafting process whereby all proposed new language in a bill is underlined and unwanted current language is struck through. This technique allows an analyst to readily identify changes proposed by a bill. A district should submit a coded copy of a charter codification bill to the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee.

When the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee receives a charter codification bill, all prior special acts are compiled and merged into one document, and prior acts that have been repealed are determined. A line-by-line analysis is then performed between the bill and current charter.

II. PREPARING & DRAFTING A CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL

The district is responsible for preparing the initial draft for submission to the local legislative delegation. Some important points for the preparation of a charter codification bill are as follows:

- A charter codification bill is a local bill and must meet the notice requirements of article III, section 10, Florida Constitution, and ch. 11, F.S.
- All local bills must be accompanied by the proof of publication, a completed and signed Local Bill Certification Form, and a completed and signed Economic Impact Statement.

¹¹² Ss. 189.022, 189.031(5), F.S.

¹¹³ For an example of bill coding, *see* ch. 2014-22, Laws of Fla.

- As a local bill, a charter codification must be approved by the local legislative delegation.
- All the required special act provisions relating to the district must be accounted for in the codified bill.
- The bill must include a repeal of all existing special acts as one of its last sections.
- The special acts being repealed may contain certain provisions that should be left intact. This language must be included in the bill.
- A status statement must be provided in the bill.
- The provisions of the codification bill should be checked to determine whether general law is being preempted or exempted.

III. SPECIAL CONSIDERATIONS FOR CODIFYING A SPECIAL DISTRICT CHARTER

1. DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGES

Some districts have charter authority to alter their original boundaries without legislative approval. These boundary changes may result in the codification bill containing a different district boundary description than the original charter. The Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee may request supporting information if a codification bill changes a district's boundaries.

2. REPEALING EXISTING CHAPTER LAWS

Generally, all existing special acts relating to a special district should be repealed when codifying the charter. Special care must be taken when repealing a district's existing special acts which govern or amend the district's charter provisions relating to bonds or tax authority. The repeal language, if used, should be clear and expressly repeal and cite all special acts (e.g., "chapters 2001-001, 2001-002, and 2001-003, Laws of Florida, are hereby repealed"). Do not use language such as "unless reenacted herein."

3. REFERENDUM PROVISIONS IN PRIOR SPECIAL ACTS

If any of the district's prior special acts required referenda to become effective, the outcome of those referenda must be determined when codifying the charter. To determine the current status of any bill provisions effectuated by referendum, the bill drafter should contact the supervisor of elections in each affected county. The bill drafter should forward those findings to the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee.

IV. DRAFTING A CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL

All charter sections are numbered independently from the rest of the bill and contained in a single bill section, as illustrated by "Section 3" in the below example. This method keeps the charter's provisions separate from the bill's provisions and is preferred by House Bill Drafting Service.

The following is an example of a special district codification bill format:

- Section 1: *Intent language*. For example, "Pursuant to s. 189.019, F.S., this act constitutes the codification of all special acts relating to ..."
- Section 2: Codifying, reenacting, amending, and repealing the specific special acts of the district's charter.
- Section 3: *Codification language*. For example, "The (name of district) District is reenacted, and the charter for the district is recreated and reenacted to read:"
 - Section 1: District Charter First Section.
 - Section 2: District Charter Second Section
 - o [Continue sequence of numbered charter sections until charter is complete]
- Section 4: Repeal of prior special acts.
- Section 5: Effective date.

Additional provisions may be included as sections of the bill depending on an individual district's circumstances, such as providing for the liberal construction of the bill's language. The above sample language does not contain all bill requirements, such as the title and the enacting clause.

V. CHARTER CODIFICATION BILL CHECKLIST

- 1. Was the proposed bill approved by the local delegation?
- 2. Have the notice requirements for a local bill been met?
- 3. Is the bill's "notice of legislation" broad enough to allow subsequent amendments?
- 4. Has the Affidavit of Proof of Publication been completed and ready to be submitted to House Bill Drafting Service with the draft bill?
- 5. Have the Economic Impact Statement and Local Bill Certification Forms been completed and filed with the Clerk of the House?
- 6. Is a status statement included in the codification bill?
- 7. Are the charter provisions numbered as part of the charter (rather than numbered as a bill section) and contained in one bill section?
- 8. Is the bill properly coded?
- 9. Does the bill preempt or exempt general law?
- 10. Does the bill include all valid provisions from prior special acts?
- 11. Have prior acts that have been repealed been identified?
- 12. Does the bill expressly repeal all prior special acts pertaining to the district's charter?
- 13. If any existing provisions should be left intact, is that language included?
- 14. Has all information regarding the outcome of all prior required referenda been provided to the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee?
- 15.If the district's boundaries have been changed or modified since the district's creation, has the proper documentation been submitted?

| 16.If the bill makes substantive changes to the charter, are those changes properly listed and provided? |
|--|
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |
| |

APPENDIX A

The Role of Legislative Delegations

Florida's local legislative delegations serve important functions such as providing a public forum to identify local bills. Although legislative delegations are not statutorily defined, various Florida Statutes assign them certain functions.¹¹⁴

The legislative delegations are comprised of both House and Senate members from the county (or counties) they represent. Many legislative delegations are well organized, having a chair, vice-chair, and a legislative liaison. Other legislative delegations operate on a more informal basis. Most legislative delegations choose new leaders after every general election.

There are no standard rules for conducting local legislative delegation meetings. Some delegations create their own rules of procedure for considering materials and conducting meetings. Others choose to adopt rules patterned on the official rules adopted by the House or the Senate.

Some legislative delegations meet several times prior to an upcoming legislative session to discuss local issues that may become local bill proposals. These meetings often produce meaningful dialogue between representatives of local government, citizens, and legislative delegation members regarding the language and intent of a local bill.

28

¹¹⁴ See, for example, s. 125.61, F.S.

APPENDIX B

House Local Bill Forms

The following forms are available in fillable .pdf format the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee page on the House website.

Model Affidavit of Proof of Publication

Local Bill Certification Form

Economic Impact Statement

Local Bill Amendment Form

MODEL AFFIDAVIT OF PROOF OF PUBLICATION

| | STATE OF FLORIDA, COUNTY OF |
|-------------------------------------|---|
| | BEFORE ME, the undersigned authority, personally appeared, who, on due solemn oath or affirmation, attests that a notice stating the substance of a contemplated law or proposed bill relating to |
| PLACE COPY OF ADVERTISEMENT HERE | was published on (date) |
| | Notary Public State of Florida at Large |

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES LOCAL BILL CERTIFICATION FORM

| BILL#: | | | | | | | |
|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| SPONSOR(S): | | | | | | | |
| RELATING TO: | | | | | | | |
| • | ndicate Area Affected (City, County, or Special District) and Subject] | | | | | | |
| NAME OF DELEGATION | | | | | | | |
| CONTACT PERSON: | | | | | | | |
| | E-Mail: | | | | | | |
| considers a local bil (1) The members of accomplished at the (2) The legislative do considering the loca (3) The bill must be required by the rules (4) An Economic Im Clerk of the House. | the local legislative delegation must certify that the purpose of the bill cannot be local level; elegation must hold a public hearing in the area affected for the purpose of | | | | | | |
| (1) Does the dele ordinance of | gation certify the purpose of the bill cannot be accomplished by a local governing body without the legal need for a referendum? | | | | | | |
| YES[] | NO[] | | | | | | |
| · | on as to why the purpose of the bill cannot be accomplished at the local | | | | | | |
| ievei. | | | | | | | |
| · | | | | | | | |
| . , | ation conduct a public hearing on the subject of the bill? | | | | | | |
| YES[] | NO[] | | | | | | |
| Date hearing | held: | | | | | | |
| Location: | | | | | | | |
| (3) Was this bill f | ormally approved by a majority of the delegation members? | | | | | | |
| YES[] | NO[] UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED[] | | | | | | |
| (4) Was an Econo Clerk of the H | omic Impact Statement prepared at the local level and filed with the ouse? | | | | | | |
| YES[] | NO[] | | | | | | |

Local Bill Certification Form PAGE 1 of 2

| ii ti | ntention to seek ena | ctment of the bill | has been published | d as provided by | ecial act unless notice of general law (s. 11.02, F. te of the electors in the | S.) or |
|-----------|---|------------------------------|-----------------------|--------------------|--|--------|
| H | las this constitut | ional notice re | quirement been | met? | | |
| | Notice publish | ned: YES[] | NO[] DATE | | | |
| | Where? | | _ County _ | | | |
| | Referendum i | n lieu of public | ation: YES[] | NO[] | | |
| | Date of Refere | ndum | | | | |
| c | district, or changing | the authorized mi | illage rate for an ex | isting special tax | bill creating a special ta king district, unless the ors in the area affected. | bill |
| ä | (1) Does the bill o valorem tax? | reate a specia | I district and au | thorize the dis | trict to impose an a | d |
| | YES[] | NO[] | | | | |
| (2 | 2) Does this bill district? | change the aut | horized ad valo | rem millage ra | te for an existing s | oecia |
| | YES[] | NO[] | | | | |
| If V | f the answer to qual ralorem tax provi | uestion (1) or (sion(s)? | 2) is YES, does | the bill require | e voter approval of t | he ac |
| | YES[] | NO[] | | | | |
| Please fi | le this completed | l form with the | Clerk of the Ho | use. | | |
| | Delegation C | hair (Original Si | gnature) | | Date | |
| | Printed Name | e of Delegation | Chair | | | |

Local Bill Certification Form PAGE 2 of 2

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

LOCAL BILL ECONOMIC IMPACT STATEMENT FORM

| | l bill. Please | ernment) and include information for the firs file this completed form with the Clerk of th ay be attached as necessary. | he House as soon as possible at | ter a bill is filed. |
|------|------------------------------------|--|--|----------------------|
| LL# | : | - | | |
| | SOR(S): | | | |
| ELAT | TING TO: | [Indicate Area Affected (City, County or S | pecial District) and Subject] | |
| | | ☐ Check if this is a revised Econo | mic Impact Statement | |
| I. F | REVENUES | | • | |
| | The term " For examp | ures are new revenues that would not e "revenue" contemplates, but is not limit ple, license plate fees may be a revenu or individuals from the tax base, include | ed to, taxes, fees, and specially source. If the bill will add o | al assessments |
| | | | First FY | Second FY |
| | Revenue o | decrease due to bill: | \$ | _ \$ |
| | Revenue i | increase due to bill: | \$ | _ \$ |
| II. | COST: | | | |
| | Include all existence distributing | l costs, both direct and indirect, includir of a certain entity, state the related cosg assets. | ng start-up costs. If the bill re sts, such as satisfying liabilition | peals the es and |
| | Expenditu | res for Implementation, Administration, | , and Enforcement: | |
| | | | First FY | Second FY |
| | | | \$ | _ \$ |
| | Please inc | clude explanations and calculations reg ed in reaching total cost. | garding how each dollar figur | e was |

Local Bill Economic Impact Statement PAGE 1 of 4

III. FUNDING SOURCE(S):

State the specific sources from which funding will be received, for example, license plate fees, state funds, borrowed funds, or special assessments.

If certain funding changes are anticipated to occur beyond the following two fiscal years, explain the change and at what rate taxes, fees, or assessments will be collected in those years.

| | | First FY | Second FY |
|-----|--|------------------|--------------|
| | Local: | \$ | \$ |
| | State: | \$ | \$ |
| | Federal: | \$ | \$ |
| IV. | ECONOMIC IMPACT: | | |
| | Potential Advantages: | | |
| | Include all possible outcomes linked to the bill, such as incre positive or negative changes to tax revenue. If an act is bein dissolved, include the increased or decreased efficiencies of specific figures for anticipated job growth. | g repealed or | an entity |
| | Advantages to Individuals: | | |
| | | | |
| | Advantages to Businesses: | | |
| | | | |
| | Advantages to Government: | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | Potential Disadvantages: | | |
| | Include all possible outcomes linked to the bill, such as ineff market changes anticipated. Include reduced business opposite access to capital or training. State any decreases in tax reverses. | ortunities, such | n as reduced |
| | Disadvantages to Individuals: | | |
| | | | |
| | | | |
| | Disadvantages to Businesses: | | |

Local Bill Economic Impact Statement PAGE 2 of 4

| 3. Disadvantages to Government: |
|---|
| DESCRIBE THE POTENTIAL IMPACT OF THE BILL ON PRESENT GOVERNMENTAL SERVICES: |
| |
| |
| ECIFIC DATA USED IN REACHING ESTIMATES: Include the type(s) and source(s) of data used, percentages, dollar figures, all assumptions made, history of the industry/issue affected by the bill, and any audits. |
| |
| |
| |
| ; |

VII. CERTIFICATION BY PREPARER

I hereby certify I am qualified to establish fiscal data and impacts and have personal knowledge of the information given. I have reviewed all available financial information applicable to the substance of the above-stated local bill and confirm the foregoing

Local Bill Economic Impact Statement PAGE 3 of 4 Economic Impact Statement is a true and accurate estimate of the economic impact of the bill.

| PREPARED BY: | [Must be signed by Preparer] | |
|--------------------------|--|------------------|
| Print preparer's name: | | £ |
| TITLE (such as Executive | Date Director, Actuary, Chief Accountant, or Bo | udget Director): |
| | | |
| REPRESENTING: | | |
| PHONE: | | |
| E-MAIL ADDRESS: | | _> |

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

LOCAL BILL AMENDMENT FORM

Prior to consideration of a substantive amendment to a local bill, the chair of the legislative delegation must certify, by signing this Amendment Form, that a majority of the legislative delegation approves the amendment. House local bill policy does not require a delegation meeting to formally approve an amendment. All substantive committee, subcommittee, and floor amendments must be accompanied by a completed original Amendment Form, which has been provided to and reviewed by staff of the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee prior to consideration. An Amendment Form is not required for technical amendments.

| committee, sub Form, which ha Districts Subco | committee, as been prov ommittee pri | and floor an rided to and or to consid | nendments must be accompanied by a completed original Amendment reviewed by staff of the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special leration. An Amendment Form is not required for technical amendments. |
|---|--|--|--|
| BILL NUMBE | : Б. | | |
| SPONSOR(S |): | | |
| RELATING T | o: | Florality A. A | Area Affected (City, County or Special District) and Subject] |
| SPONSOR O | F AMEND | | Area Affected (City, County or Special District) and Subject |
| | | | (Name of Committee or Subcommittee) |
| | 1 |] Floor | |
| CONTACT P | ERSON: _ | | |
| PHONE NO: | 2 | | E-MAIL: |
| Reviewed by | staff of th | ie Local A | dministration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee |
| | | | *Must Be Checked* |
| | DESCRIP additional pag | | AMENDMENT: ssary) |
| | ON/NEED additional pag | | |
| III. <u>NOTIC</u> | E REQUIR | REMENTS | |
| | Is the ame local bill? | ndment co | nsistent with the published notice of intent to seek enactment of the |
| | YES[] | NO[] | NOT APPLICABLE [] |
| | | | not consistent with the published notice, was a revised notice affected by the bill at least 30 days prior to the bill being amended? |
| | YES[] | NO[] | NOT APPLICABLE [] |

Local Bill Amendment Form PAGE 2 of 2

| | C. If the amendment is not consistent with the published notice, does the amendment require voter approval in order for the bill to become effective? |
|-----|---|
| | YES[] NO[] NOT APPLICABLE[] |
| IV. | DOES THE AMENDMENT ALTER THE ECONOMIC IMPACT OF THE BILL? |
| | YES[] NO[] |
| | NOTE: If the amendment alters the economic impact of the bill, a revised Economic Impact Statement describing the impact of the amendment must be submitted to the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee prior to consideration of the amendment. |
| | If yes, was the Revised Economic Impact Statement submitted as follows? |
| | [] Committee Amendment: Economic Impact Statement filed with staff of committee/subcommittee hearing the bill. |
| | [] Floor Amendment: Economic Impact Statement filed with staff of Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee. |
| | YES[] NO[] |
| ٧. | HAS THE AMENDMENT AS DESCRIBED ABOVE BEEN APPROVED BY A MAJORITY OF THE DELEGATION? |
| | YES[] NO[] UNANIMOUSLY APPROVED[] |
| | |
| ori | or substantive amendments considered by a committee or subcommittee, the properly executed iginal of this form must be filed with the committee or subcommittee staff prior to the amendment eing heard. |
| | lote to committee staff: After receiving this form, the original must be filed with the Clerk of the buse.] |
| | or substantive floor amendments, the properly executed original of this form must be filed with the lerk of the House prior to the amendment being heard. |
| | |
| 75- | |
| Ī | Delegation Chair (Original Signature) Date |
| - | Print Name of Delegation Chair |
| | i filit Name of Delegation Onali |

Local Bill Amendment Form PAGE 2 of 2

APPENDIX C

Resources for Local Bills

Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee staff is available to answer questions about local bill policies and procedures. House Bill Drafting Service should be contacted with technical questions regarding the drafting of local bills.

Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee Florida House of Representatives 209 House Office Building 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300 (850) 717-4890

House Bill Drafting Service Florida House of Representatives 1501 The Capitol 402 South Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32399-1300 (850) 717-5300

<u>The Local Government Formation Manual</u>, prepared by the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee, Florida House of Representatives, Tallahassee, Florida.

<u>Guidelines for Drafting Legislation</u>, 2014, prepared by House Bill Drafting Service, Florida House of Representatives, Tallahassee, Florida.

APPENDIX D

Examples of Local Bills

For samples illustrating the format and general organization of local bills, please see the following:

- Bill Amending Current Law Ch. 2016-249, Laws of Fla. (2016 HB 709)
- Bill Repealing Current Law Ch. 2014-231, Laws of Fla. (2014 HB 809)
- Bill Amending a Law Previously Amended Ch. 2014-245, Laws of Fla. (2014 HB 1297)
- Bill Providing Exception to General Law Ch. 2014-237, Laws of Fla. (2014 CS/HB 929)
- Bill Containing a Land Description Ch. 2014-242, Laws of Fla. (2014 CS/HB 1143)
- Bill Containing WHEREAS Clauses Ch. 2014-232, Laws of Fla. (2014 HB 817)
- Bill Recodifying an Existing Charter for an Independent Special District Ch. 2014-241, Laws of Fla. (2014 CS/HB 1023)
- Bill Creating an Independent Special District Ch. 2022-235, Laws of Fla. (2022 CS/HB 651)
- Bill Creating an Independent Special District by Abolishing Existing District and Transferring Assets, Liabilities, and Responsibilities to New District Ch. 2015-202, Laws of Fla. (2015 CS/CS/HB 1255)
- Bill Creating an Independent Special District by Merger of Existing Districts Subject to Subsequent Referendum – Ch. 2014-240, Laws of Fla. (2014 CS/HB 951)
- Bill Creating an Independent Special District by Merger of Existing Districts After Referendum Approving Merger – Ch. 2015-191, Laws of Fla. (2015 CS/CS/HB 899)
- Bill Abolishing an Independent Special District Ch. 2016-244, Laws of Fla. (2016 HB 419)
- Bill Providing for Incorporation of a New Municipality Ch. 2017-195, Laws of Fla. (2017 CS/HB 259)

APPENDIX E

Prohibited Special Laws "Like Vote" Provision

Article III, section 11(a)(21), Florida Constitution prohibits special laws or general laws of local application pertaining to "any subject when prohibited by general law passed by a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house." Furthermore, "[s]uch law may be amended or repealed *by like vote*." (emphasis added).

The law is unsettled on the implementation of this "like vote" requirement. Under one interpretation, amending or repealing "such law" prohibiting a special law or general law of local application on a particular subject may be achieved only by directly amending or repealing the original general law by a three-fifths vote. Under a second approach, amending or repealing "such law" prohibiting a special law or general law of local application on a particular subject may be achieved through any general or special law passed by a three-fifths vote. There is no relevant case law and Florida attorneys general at various times appear to have taken both positions.

In 1969, the Attorney General was asked whether the Legislature could pass special legislation providing for compensation of certain county officers listed in s. 145.16(2), F.S. 115 That statute expressly prohibited such legislation, was enacted as a general law under authority of article III, section 11(a)(21), Florida Constitution, and was passed by three-fifths vote in each chamber. The Attorney General opined ch. 69-211, Laws of Fla., prohibited and prevented the effectiveness of any special act on the specified subject "until amendment or repeal of Ch. 69-211." 116 The opinion went on to conclude the constitutional provision thus prohibited special acts on the subject as specified by s. 145.16(2), F.S., but permitted "amendment thereof, direct or indirect, only by acts passed by like vote." The opinion could be interpreted as narrowly applying the "like vote" requirement to allow alteration of a statutory prohibition only by amending or repealing the original statute. However, the opinion is less clear because the Attorney General also found the constitutional provision permitted "direct or *indirect*" amendment of a statutory prohibition "by acts passed by like vote."

In a 1983 opinion the Attorney General quoted the 1969 opinion and concluded:

Therefore I am of the view, until judicially determined to the contrary, that a general law passed by a three-fifths vote of the Legislature prohibiting special or local laws on the same subject may be amended or repealed by a special act which has passed by a like vote, i.e., by a three-fifths vote of each house of the Legislature.¹¹⁷

¹¹⁵ Current officials include members of the board of county commissioners, clerk of the circuit court, sheriff, superintendent of schools, supervisor of elections, property appraiser, tax collector, and district school board members. S. 145.16(2)(a)-(h), F.S.

¹¹⁶ 69-80 Fla. Op. Att'y Gen. 111 (August 28, 1969).

¹¹⁷ 83-27 Fla. Op. Att'y. Gen. 69 (May 5, 1983).

In 2003, the Board of Trustees for the Orlando Firefighters Pension Fund asked whether by special act the Legislature could authorize broader investment powers for the Board without jeopardizing the receipt of amounts from the Police Officers' and Firefighters' Premium Tax Trust Fund. Turning to ch. 112, part VII, F.S., the Attorney General noted s. 112.67, F.S., prohibited special laws or general laws of local application conflicting with part VII unless passed by three-fifths majority in each chamber. Accordingly, the opinion concluded a special act or general law of local application conflicting with the statute would require passage by three-fifths majority in each chamber. 118

The Attorney General is authorized to provide specific state officers, including those of a county, municipality, or other unit of local government, with an official opinion and legal advice in writing on questions of law relating to the official duties of the requesting officer. Although not bound by such opinions, Florida courts give them great weight when interpreting the laws and statutes. 120

The 1983 opinion raised concerns with both House and Senate bill drafting offices. Senate Bill Drafting promptly expressed disagreement with the opinion in a memorandum dated May 10, 1983. The current Senate *Manual for Drafting Legislation* (2009) states:

Section 11(a)(21), Article III of the State Constitution provides that the Legislature may, by a general law enacted by a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house, prohibit special laws on a particular subject. The prohibition contained in the general law may be amended or repealed only by a like vote. Consequently, the Legislature may not pass a local law on a subject prohibited by a general law enacted by this procedure until it has expressly amended or repealed that general law by a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house.¹²¹

¹¹⁸ 2003-54 Fla. Op. Att'y. Gen. (November 3, 2003).

¹¹⁹ S. 16.01(3), F.S.

¹²⁰ Beverly v. Div. of Beverage of the Dept. of Business Regulation, 282 So. 2d 657, 660 (Fla. 1st DCA 1973).

¹²¹ Florida Senate, *Manual for Drafting Legislation* 107 (Office of Bill Drafting Servs., 6th ed. 2009). *See also* Florida Senate, *Manual for Drafting Legislation* 107, n.66 (Office of Bill Drafting Servs., 6th ed. 2009) ("The Attorney General, in Attorney General Opinion 83-27, opined that a local law prohibited under this provision may be enacted if it is passed by a three-fifths vote of the membership of each house of the Legislature. The Office of Bill Drafting Services, however, feels strongly that this opinion is wrong and agrees with an earlier Attorney General Opinion (69-80) which reached the opposite conclusion.")

In its manual entitled Drafting Local Legislation in Florida (1985), House Bill Drafting also took issue with the 1983 opinion and argued that the interpretation therein "negates the whole point of the constitutional provision." ¹²²

While there has been no definitive judicial interpretation, an earlier court decision viewed a statute not passed under this constitutional provision as "not insulated from modification by subsequent special act," apparently implying the three-fifths vote requirement would apply simply to the subsequent enactment altering the general law's prohibition. 123

Notwithstanding these expressions of disagreement with the position taken in the 1983 and 2003 Attorney General Opinions on the meaning of "like vote," the Legislature has continued to pass special acts on matters pertaining to general laws enacted pursuant to the article III, section 11(a) (21), Florida Constitution, by more than three-fifths vote. The concerns noted above may be partially alleviated by House Rule 5.5(b), which provides:

A local bill that provides an exemption from general law may not be placed on the Special Order Calendar in any section reserved for the expedited consideration of local bills.

Those wishing to create a local exception to a general law creating a prohibition on a particular subject as provided in article III, section 11(a) (21), Florida Constitution should note this difference of opinion exists and are advised that amendment or repeal for a local area through the vehicle of a local bill involves some risk, particularly if the bill is controversial.

43

¹²² More recently, the House Bill Drafting Service has not expressed a position on the interpretation of article III, section 11(a)(21), Florida Constitution. *See*, House Bill Drafting, *Guidelines for Drafting Legislation* (2014). ¹²³ *See School Board of Escambia County v. State*, 353 So. 2d 834, 839 (Fla. 1977).

APPENDIX F

Frequently Asked Questions

(References are to the applicable pages in this Manual)

- 1. What is a local bill? (Pg. 3)
 - A local bill is legislation limited in effect to a particular area such as a county, city, or special district.
- 2. What is the difference between a special act and a local law? (Pg. 2-3)
 - A special act operates on a specific category of people or subjects which classification either is impermissible or illegal.
 - A local law is a type of special act relating to a specific territory in the state.
- 3. May a local bill amend a general law? (Pg. 1-3)
 - No. A local bill may create an exemption to a general law within the specific area affected but cannot amend the general law.
- 4. Who is responsible for drafting a local bill? (Pg. 4)
 - The draft local bill typically is prepared by the party requesting the legislation.
 - All draft local bills are submitted by their House sponsors to the House Bill Drafting Service, which reviews the proposed bills for compliance with the House bill drafting requirements.
- 5. Is a meeting of the local delegation to consider local bills a public meeting requiring notice? (Pg. 5)
 - All meetings at which the local legislative delegation discusses and/or votes on proposed legislation should be noticed and open to the public.
- 6. Must notice of the local delegation meeting be published at least 30 days before the meeting? (Pg. 5)
 - There is no set deadline by when a meeting notice must be published.
 - The standard is reasonable notice under the circumstances.

- 7. May the required notice of intent to file the local bill be published before the delegation meeting? (Pg. 5-6)
 - While there is no prohibition to publishing the required notice of intent to file the local bill prior to the delegation meeting, the practice is discouraged because changes to the proposed bill at the meeting may require publishing a new notice.
- 8. Who is responsible for publishing notice of intent to file the local bill? (Pg. 8)
 - Those parties most interested in the passage of the bill (a citizens' group, a local official, etc.) generally assume this responsibility.
- 9. Must the published notice identify the party requesting the local bill be filed? (Pg. 7)
 - No.
- 10. Where must the notice of intent be published? (Pg. 6)
 - The notice must be published in each county affected by the proposed local bill.
- 11. In which legislative session may the local bill be filed? (Pg. 7)
 - Normally, a local bill is filed in the regular session immediately following the publication of the notice.
- 12. How does filing a local bill differ from filing a general bill? (Pg. 11-12)

Unlike a general bill, each local bill filed in the House requires the following documentation:

- Affidavit of Proof of Publication
- Local Bill Certification
- Economic Impact Statement
- 13. Where do I find the local bill forms? (App. B)
 - The local bill forms are available in a fillable .pdf format at http://myfloridahouse.gov/

- 14. Which forms must be filed with the local bill? (Pg. 11-12)
 - Affidavit of Proof of Publication submit together with proposed bill to House Bill Drafting.
 - Local Bill Certification Form submit to Clerk of the House at the time
 of filing the bill or as soon thereafter as possible, but prior to the first
 hearing in a committee or subcommittee.
 - Economic Impact Statement submit to Clerk of the House at the time of filing the bill or as soon as possible thereafter, but prior to the first hearing in a committee or subcommittee.
- 15. Who completes the Local Bill Certification Form? (Pg. 11)
 - The local legislative delegation.
 - The form is signed by the delegation chair.
- 16. Who completes the Economic Impact Statement? (Pg. 11)
 - A person qualified to prepare economic statements and personally familiar with the information used to prepare the statement.
- 17. Must the Economic Impact Statement (EIS) form be completed within the area of the county, municipality, or district affected by the local bill? (Pg. 12)
 - Provided the one preparing the EIS meets the criteria of the preparer's certification stated on the form, the *location* where the EIS is completed is immaterial.
- 18. What is the deadline to file a local bill? (Pg. 16)
 - As with any general bill, a local bill must be approved for filing no later than noon on the first day of the regular session, per House Rule 5.2(a).
- 19. Should a Senate companion also be filed? (Pg. 18)
 - This usually is not necessary. Only when there is some reason the bill may be delayed in the Senate and filing a companion would eliminate the delay.
- 20. Once filed, are local bills handled differently in committee than other bills? (Pg. 17)
 - No. Local bills go through the same referral and committee process as general bills before being considered by the entire House on the floor.

- 21. May a local bill be amended in a committee? (Pg. 12, 17)
 - Yes.
- 22. Are there special requirements to amend a local bill? (Pg. 12, 17)
 - Unless the local bill must be approved by the local voters in a subsequent referendum, the proposed amendment must be within the scope of the published notice. If not, publication of a new notice may be necessary.
 - If the amendment changes the economic impact of the local bill, a revised economic impact statement must be prepared and filed.
 - Completion and filing of a Local Bill Amendment form is required for all amendments changing the substance of the bill.
 - Any change to a property description in the bill, even to correct a scrivener's error, is a substantive change because the bill would then describe different real property.
 - The form is completed by the local delegation and signed by the delegation chair. The local delegation is not required to conduct a meeting on the proposed amendment in the county or counties affected by the amended local bill.
 - The original form is reviewed by staff of the Local Administration, Federal Affairs & Special Districts Subcommittee.
 - ➢ If the amendment is offered in a different committee, the original of the completed form must be filed with that committee's staff BEFORE the committee meeting at which the bill will be considered.
 - A Local Bill Amendment form is not required for merely technical amendments.
- 23. Under what circumstances would a local bill need to be readvertised? (Pg. 12)
 - If a substantive amendment takes the bill outside the scope of the published notice, a new notice encompassing the amended substance of the bill must be published.
- 24. How are local bills handled on the House floor? (Pg. 17-18)
 - Local bills may be taken up separately as part of a special order calendar or may be considered using an expedited local bill calendar.
 - Local bills creating an exception to general law or amended on the floor are considered separately.

- 25. May a local bill be amended on the House floor? (Pg. 12, 18)
 - Yes. Substantive amendments require completion and filing of the Local Bill Amendment form. Technical amendments require no such form.
- 26. Can Senators sponsor local bills? (Pg. 18)
 - Yes, if the bill is filed in the Senate.
- 27. Is a member of the delegation obligated to sponsor a local bill? (Pg. 4)
 - Under custom and courtesy of the House, local bills are sponsored by a House member of the delegation.
- 28. Who may vote in a referendum required in a local bill? (Pg. 9-10)
 - The qualified electors within the geographic area affected by the local bill.
- 29. If the local bill requires approval by local referendum may the bill be amended without requiring an additional referendum on the amendment? (Pq. 9-10)
 - Yes. The referendum would be held on the final version of the bill enacted into law.